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HISTORICAL CHRONOLOGY 
 
 
Beginnings:    
Before 1717 A petition from,” sundry of the Inhabitants of the North part of plimouth 

for a township by themselves” was presented to Plymouth Town Meeting 
on March 15, 1717, but no apparent action was taken. Once again the 
petition was heard at Town Meeting on May 16, 1717. It was voted down.  

  
 The “inhabitants of the North part of plimouth” (including a few from 

Pembroke and Plympton) forwarded their petition for township, now 
known as The Original Petition, to the General Court in Boston.  The 
following states the main argument of the petition. 

  
 “…it is a great burden your poor petitioners labor under by reason of the great 

distance we live from the center of the town to which we respectively belong the 
great difficulty of attending all public worship and more especially the public 
worship of God…” 

  
 The request was denied, but the General Court granted the petitioners a 

precinct provided they built a meetinghouse, appoint an “orthodox” 
minister and build a school. 

   
 Major John Bradford (1652 – 1736), grandson of the governor was the 

principal inhabitant” of the north section of Plymouth who led his 
neighbors to establishment of the new town of Kingston.  As owner of 
extensive parcels of land – including nearly all of the center of the village – 
he was benefactor to the fledgling town with gifts of land for the first 
schoolhouse, the meetinghouse, burying ground, and training green plus 
land for the minister’s house…was moderator of Kingston’s first town 
meeting.  He lived ten years after the incorporation of the town, dying at 
the age of 84. (Melville, 18) 

 
 After the North Precinct was created, Bradford gave two acres for the 

meeting house-training ground-burying ground complex that became the 
focal point of the village. (Melville, 69-70) 

 
 (There is a deed recorded at the Plymouth Registry of Deeds after Major 

Bradford’s gift to the North Precinct in 1720 of two acres for a meeting 
house, burying ground and training field.  Some present-day members of 
the First Parish had said they believe the training green and land on which 
the town house stands belonged to their church.  (Note:  in a 2003 
memorandum of agreement with the town, the Church relinquished its claim for a 
payment to the Church of $22,000 as well as other benefits to be received.)  It 
would appear, however, that the argument would work just as well in the 
other direction:  since the land was given to the North Precinct, which 
became the town, and no relinquishment of the town’s right to the land is 
recorded, perhaps the town owns not only the town house land and the 
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green, but the land on which the church stands.  The Town has 
demonstrated its responsibility for the burying ground (part of the same 
original two-acre gift) by appropriating money for its care over the years. 
(This money was from a fund donated by citizens for the maintenance of 
the Old Burying Ground.)  (Melville, 105-106) 

 
 
Establishment:  
1717-1830  
 
1717. The area that would become Kingston was known as the North Precinct of 

Plymouth, also referred to as Jones River Village and Jones River Precinct.   
 
 On the 5th of December 1717, a committee was chosen to locate a build a 

“meeting house” in the corner of Jacob Michell’s field.  The land was 
given to the precinct by Major John Bradford, grandson of Gov. William 
Bradford and was conveyed by Deed January 5, 1720. At the same time, 
Maj. Bradford also gave the land for the Burying Ground and Training 
Green and park.  (Susan B. Holmes, personal interview, KPL File) 

 
 Upon giving the land, Bradford wrote, “for an in consideration of the love 

and good will I bear to the North Precinct of Plymouth, Plimpton, 
Pembroke, etc., and to promote religion in said precinct and other good 
causes and considerations me thereto moving have given to said precinct 
my three tracts of land etc.” One of these three tracts being the “two acres 
more or less whereon the meeting house now standeth to be for the use of 
said precinct for a Burying Place, training field and to maintain a Meeting 
House and any other use the said precinct of their successors shall see 
cause to put it to forever.” (KPL File) 

 
 Also in this year, the burying ground received its first known interment, 

that of Charles Little’s son Charles, who died on February 14, 1717 (or 
18). 

 
1718. The First Meetinghouse was built. 
 
1720. Reverend Joseph Stacey was settled as the first minister and began to 

preach July 16, 1720.  He built the house which is still standing at the 
point between the Boston and Bridgewater Roads (known as “The Point”) 
on two acres of land which Major John Bradford had given him for the 
purpose…also an acre of land adjoining Mr. Stacey’s and eleven acres of 
woodland near the northwest road “for the permanent use of the 
ministry.” (Bailey & Drew, 8) 

 
1726. Beside the meeting-house to the west was the pound, which was an 

enclosure for stray animals, but the stocks and whipping post were happily 
absent here in 1726. 
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1739. An addition of land to the north side of the burying ground was made by 
Maj. Bradford.  (Holmes) 

 
1787. “The committee appointed to consider the most suitable Place for erecting 

a wall for enclosing the Burial Ground have [attended to] that Service & 
report their opinion – that said wall begin at the Line of the Land of 
Francis Adams in the Range of the Northerly side of the Porch…to the 
Northwesterly corner of the said Porch and that of the Easterly end of the 
meetinghouse the…wall begin at the Northeasterly corner of the tower on 
which the Steeple is erected + that it extend from thence in a Line with a 
Northerly side of the…tower one rod and a half – And from thence to 
Extend to the land of Francis Adams in such a direction as to include 
within the Inclosure the Graves Nigh to the Land of the said Adams.” 
(Town Records, Vol. 2, p. 163, April 2, 1787) 

 
1798. The First Meetinghouse was demolished to make way for a larger one. The 

same year the Second Meetinghouse was erected. The town voted on 
February 5, 1798  “to build a house of Publick worship in town as soon as 
it may be conveniently built (and) voted that a Committee be chosen to 
report to the town… plan or plans…” (Town Records, 1796-1818, p. 21) 

 
1806. The town constructed a powder house (magazine) measuring 10’ x 10’ on 

the north line of the burying ground. (Town Records, 1796-1818, 145) 
(The powder house was built at the request of Rev. Zephaniah Willis, who 
objected to the storage of gunpowder in the meetinghouse.)) 

 
1829. The town warrant included an article “to see if the town will employ some 

person to clear the burying ground of bushes, which are growing among 
the graves.” (p 265) 

 
1786-1830. During this 44-year period, thirteen “negro, etc.” deaths were recorded in 

Kingston.  At least two were slaves belonging to Mr. Sever and one 
belonged to Jon Fuller. Records of these deaths were included in the 
records of the First Church of Kingston.  (Vital Records, 396) 

 
 
Enlargement and Embellishment: 
1830-1930  
 
1833. The town warrant included an article “to see if the town are disposed to 

enlarge the Burying Ground.” (p. 278) 
 
1839. Town meeting voted, “that the committee chosen for the purpose of 

contracting with Daniel Adams for a piece of land to enlarge the burying 
ground and to layout the same into suitable burying lots be directed to 
erect monuments and draw lines agreeable to a plan presented by them.” 
(p. 8) The deed transfer took place on August 14th, one acre, 45 rods, for a 
cost to the town of $130.00. (Book 198, Page 161) 
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1840. Town meeting voted, “$600.00 to pay for land purchased from Mr. Daniel 

Adams for the enlargement of the Burying Ground and incidental 
expenses of the town.” (p. 15) Up until this time it remained its original 
size, and was the only burial place used in the town. This enlargement was 
made on the northerly side. (Hurd, 285) 

 
1841. The Old Town House was built on the north end of the Training Green 

(Town Green). 
 
1845. Town meeting voted, “to choose a committee of three to take charge of 

the whole subject of the burying ground; and the following persons were 
chosen – James m. Sever, Thomas Russell, and Alexander Holmes,” and 
voted “said committee be authorized to draw their orders on the treasurer 
to defray the expenses incurred.” (p. 70) 

 
1846. The town record included a report, “the committee chosen March 1845, 

to clean and right up the grave stones in the burying ground, set out 
ornamental trees, etc. report that they have done nothing.  Town meeting 
voted, “to choose another committee to carry said vote into effect and 
draw on the treasurer for any sum not exceeding one hundred dollars to 
defray said expenses.” (p. 83) 

 
1847. The town record stated, “the committee chosen in 1846 to right up the 

grave stones in the burying ground and report.”  Town meeting voted, “to 
lay said report on the table,” and voted, “said report to be taken from the 
table and referred to the select men with instructions to act under the 
suggestions contained therein.” (p. 9) 

 
1848. Town meeting voted, “that the select men be directed to replace the 

ornamental trees around the burying ground and green that have died 
with green trees.” (p. 102) 

 
1849. Town meeting voted “the select men repair the burying yard wall and 

replace the trees that have died.” (p. 114) 
 
1850. At town meeting, “a petition of Alexander Washburn praying for the 

removal of elm trees on the westerly side of the burying ground adjoining 
his land was laid before town.”  Town meeting voted, “Elkanah Cushman 
be [allowed] to take up these trees and set them wherever he thought 
best.” (p. 120) 

 
1851. The Second Meetinghouse was demolished to make way for the Third 

(and present) Meetinghouse. 
 
1852. The town report stated, “the following persons were chosen [as] a 

committee to take into consideration the improvements to the green and 
burying ground and report at next meeting vis:  James M. Sever, Joseph 
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Stetson, Alexander Holmes.”  The committee made a report which was 
approve.  As a result, town meeting voted “in fact to authorize said 
committee to do what they may think proper for the ornamenting and 
preservation of both burying ground and training green and draw on the 
treasurer for the amount expended.” (p. 148) 

 
 Also in this year, the Training Green (Town Green) was enclosed with a 

fence, the ground was cultivated, and an Arbor vitae hedge set on all but 
the west side.  The ground was cared for by the Unitarian Parish until the 
[present] town hall was built.   

 
1853. Town meeting voted, “that a right of way be granted to the proprietors of 

the cemetery through the burying ground in such a place and manner as 
the selectmen may deem proper.” (p. 134) 

 
1854. Evergreen Cemetery as laid out adjacent to the north side of the burying 

ground.  At the time, the burying ground was “in one enclosure.”  (Hurd, 
285 

 
1859. The ATR reported, “[w]e would also call your attention to our burying 

ground, one of the oldest in the country.  While the inhabitants of other 
towns are expending large sums to adorn their old burying ground, and 
larger sums upon more modern ground, our old yard is fast becoming a 
forest of briers and wild cherry trees, and the stones which mark the last 
resting places of our ancestors, are dilapidated and defaced, and the 
inscriptions upon them becoming erased by the hand of time. (ii) 

 
1860. The selectmen, in the ATR, wanted to “call your attention to our burying 

ground, one of the oldest in the country,” and the deplored the situation 
where “our old yard is fast becoming a forest of briars and wild cherry 
trees, and the stones which mark the last resting place of our ancestors, are 
dilapidated and defaced, and the inscriptions upon them becoming erased 
by the hand of time.  The selectmen were seeking money for care of the 
old burying place. (Melville, 118) 

 
1862. The ATR included expenses for rails for the burying ground fence. (20) 
 
1864. The ATR included expenses for posts and rails for the burying ground. 

(17) 
 
1872. The ATR listed a $150.00 yearly appropriation for “improvement of the 

Old Burying Ground.” (29) 
 
1874. The ATR recorded the formation of a committee to investigate obtaining 

a lot for a New Town House, as well as to prepare plans and estimates for 
the new building, and costs of renovating the existing building.  The 
committee prepared a report that included figures for building new 
($12,000 to $15,000) vs. enlarging existing ($7,500.00).  The selectmen 
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voted to build new and weighed purchasing a $2,000 lot on the “Point,” 
or building on the lot at the end of the green (no cost). 

 
1876. Town meeting voted to hire Mr. Briggs, an architect, to design the new 

town hall.  To complete this project, the existing hearse house needed to 
be moved. 

 
1883. The Civil War Monument, erected on training ground (green) was placed. 

The monument was given to the town by Mrs. Abigail Adams, wife of 
Samuel Adams and dedicated on November 1.  In the same year, the fence 
on the north side was removed and the hedge taken up and the present 
walk laid out.  

 
1900. The ATR recorded an expense of $50.00 for the burying ground. (ATR, 

55) 
 
1910. The ATR included a town meeting vote to hand over care of the burying 

ground to the tree warden. (ATR, 4) 
 
1920. The ATR included an entry for the “Lucy Prince Ames Trust Fund.”  

William L. Ames, the founder of the fund, placed in the hands of the 
Selectmen a check for $7,500.00 upon condition that the principal should 
be invested by the Selectmen and the income thereof should be expended 
by the Board of Selectmen for the care and preservation of the Old 
Burying Ground and the monuments erected therein.  The gift of Mr. 
Ames in remembrance of his mother, Lucy Prince Ames, who lies at rest 
in this ground with other of his ancestors, reaching back for more than 
200 years.  Few can fully appreciate until their attention is called to the 
condition of the old monuments erected therein to the memory of their 
ancestors.  Of the nearly one thousand graves marked by stones of various 
kinds, fifty or more are broken and neglect for a few more years would 
remove all legible records.  By the terms of the gift, the expenditure of the 
income was placed in the hands of the Selectmen.  There is much to be 
done that must be repeated from year to year.  Now permanent repairs are 
called for.  A beginning has been made and it is presumed that any Board 
of Selectmen will gladly receive advice from anyone conversant with the 
history of this old ground and of those that lie therein.  (ATR, 1920) 

 
1921. Sarah Y. Bailey compiled a history of the Old Burying Ground, stating in 

her introduction, “nothing could be finer or more typical of an old New 
England village than the group made by the dignified and beautiful 
Meeting House guarded on one side by the Training Green, and its turn 
standing guard over the graves which have been silently gathering within 
its shadow for the part two hundred years.” 

 
 At the time, she described the property as a “place of beauty,” with a 

“simple and suitable planting of hedge and evergreen trees,” and 
maintained with “the care which has kept it free from bushes and briars, 
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so often seen in such places…”  She continued, “[m]ore careful 
investigation shows the stones well preserved and symmetrically arranged, 
in some cases this symmetry of arrangement haven even gone so far as to 
place a foot stone belonging to a certain grave in the same neat row of 
stones with the head stone!  (This arrangement was due to the work of Mr. 
Edward Chandler and the men who worked with and for him.  When Mr. 
Chandler was put in charge of the old and new burying places, he found 
the old ground in rather neglected condition.  The ground was very 
uneven, the stones were at all angles, many broken and half buried, while 
others were being carried away to cover drains.  It was difficult to tell 
where the stones should be placed and, with a view to these of caring for 
the ground in the future, the men made the neat rows which we today so 
much appreciate.  Mr. Chandler was the one who began the beautifying of 
the graveyards, grading and planting to supplement what nature had done 
for our attractive burial grounds.”)  This work has been paid for from a 
fund of $7,500 which was the gift of a son of the town, Mr. William Ames 
of Worcester, for the upkeep of the (Old) burial ground. (Bailey, 1921, 
KPL Collection) 

 
1924. The ATR reported that Thomas Prince, a native of Kingston, had died 

and his last will and testament gave the town $5,000 to be added to the 
Lucy Prince Ames Memorial Fund to be used in keeping in repair the Old 
Burying Ground, and especially the lot of his father, Noah Prince and 
family. (ATR, 5) 

 
1926. Lois V. Chandler deeded 9,800 SF (approximately ¼ acre) to the Town of 

Kingston adjacent to the northwest side of the burying ground. (Book 
1515, Page 592) 

 
1928. The ATR reported that the iron fence alongside the Unitarian Church 

bounding the Old Burying Ground has been repaired and painted and the 
gate made workable.  “The old fence is a splendid type of cast iron fencing 
and should always be preserved.” (ATR, 24) 

 
1929. The town meeting warrant included an article that appropriated $100 to 

be used under the direction of the Selectmen for laying out the recently 
acquired pauper lot adjoining the Old Burying Ground. (ATR, 8) 

 
 
Modernization and Renewal: 
1930-Present 
 
1931. The Selectmen’s report in the ATR reported that the Old burying Ground 

“is kept in wonderful condition by money received from the income of 
invested funds, known as the Lucy Prince Ames Fund.  Under the 
direction of the Selectmen, Mr. M. H. McGrath and Mr. Frank Porter 
have kept this sacred spot in such fine condition that a great many 
favorable comments have been received from far and near.  We hope that 
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its condition gives considerable satisfaction to the donor of the fund, Mr. 
William L. Ames, the fund being named for his mother, Mrs. Lucy Prince 
Ames, a much respected Kingstoni[a]n for many years.  There has been 
spent this year for the care of this plot, $979.89 which includes labor, 
supplies, tools, and the painting of the tool house. (ATR, 21-22) 

 
1932. The Selectmen reported (in the ATR) that they had spent $912.35 from 

the Ames fund on upkeep of the Old Burying Ground. (ATR, 24) 
 
1933. The Selectmen reported in the ATR that considerable work had been 

done in the Old Burying Ground over the past year, consisting of grading 
lots, trimming trees, repairing stones, and mowing.  A sum of $723.90 was 
expended from the Ames fund to cover the cost. (ATR, 35) 

 
1938. The ATR included a photo depicting bicycle inspection activities in front 

of the Town House.  In the background, lining the stone wall, is what 
appears to be a tall evergreen hedge. 

 
1944. The ATR listed a “Superintendent of the Old Burying Ground.”  This 

individual also served as janitor of the Town House. (ATR, 8) The 
position was listed in the town report each year until 1972. 

 
1958. In this year, Clinton T. Keith, a registered land surveyor, prepared a plan 

for the “Kingston Veterans Burial Plot.  Located at the northwest corner 
of the burying ground, the plot included 41 4’ x 8’ lots as well as a 12’ 
width entry drive, leading from Green Street, through the burying ground 
to reach the plot.  A flagpole was placed at the end of the drive on center 
with the drive. 

 
1973. The ATR reported that care of the Old Burying Ground was placed in the 

hands of the Kingston Evergreen Cemetery Association, Inc.  This entity 
would continue to maintain the property into the 1980s. 

 
2002. The Old Burying Ground was listed on the National Register of Historic 

Places as a contributing resource in the Kingston Center Historic District. 
 
2003. The dispute over the ownership of the Old Burying Ground, the Training 

Green (Town Green) and the land upon which the Old Town House rests 
was resolved.  The town and church settled and created a memorandum of 
understanding that defined the boundaries of church property (The 
current Meetinghouse) and town land (including the Old Burying 
Ground, the Green and Old Town House land).  A boundary survey was 
prepared to accompany this MOU. 

 
2017. The Kingston Historical Commission applied for and received funds to 

prepare a Preservation Master Plan for the Old Burying Ground. 
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HISTORIC IMAGES 

 
1717-1830 

 
 

1795 Plan of Kingston, John Gray (Massachusetts State Archives) 
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First Parish Meeting House (built 1720) (First Parish Church Archives) 
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Second Meeting House (built 1798) (First Parish Church Archives) 
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1820-1830 Kingston (Kingston Public Library) 

  



Kingston Old Burying Ground 
Preservation Master Plan 

 

A-13 

1830 – 1930 
 

1831 Plan of Kingston, John Gray (Massachusetts State Archives) 
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1857 Kingston, H. F. Walling (Kingston Public Library) 
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Map of old Kingston roads, 1876. 
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1876 Map of the Town of Kingston, E. N. Boyden (Kingston Public Library) 
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1879 Village of Kingston, G. H. Walker (Kingston Public Library) 
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1885 Village of Kingston, Bird’s Eye Lithograph (Kingston Public Library) 
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1903 Village of Kingston, L. J. Richards (Kingston Public Library) 
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ca. 1917 Third Meeting House (First Parish Church of Kingston Unitarian) (First Parish Church Archives) 
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Map of Kingston Roads, 1920 (from Bailey, The Story of the Jones River in Pilgrim Plymouth) 
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1925 Old Burying Ground and First Parish Church, Drew (Kingston Public Library) 

 



Kingston Old Burying Ground 
Preservation Master Plan 

 

A-23 

 
1930-Present 
 

 
 

1958 Plan for Veterans’ area, Clinton T. Keith (Kingston Public Library) 
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17 April 2020

Martha Lyon Landscape Architecture, LLC
313 Elm St
Northampton, MA 01060

Attention: Martha Lyon

Reference: Kingston Burying Ground Mound Tomb Assessment

Dear Martha:

On Monday, January 6, 2020 I visited Old Burying Ground in Kingston to perform a structural assessment 
of tombs A-2, B-2, C-2, D-2 and E-1. The following is a summary of my findings and initial
recommendations.

STRUCTURAL DESCRIPTION

The five mound tombs are located at the northeast corner of the burying ground, with E-1 facing the 
east and the other four facing north. All are constructed with mortar-parged fieldstone comprising the 
back and side walls of the tombs and a assemblage of dressed granite door jambs and brick infills 
comprising the front walls, landing on a cut granite sill and stone rubble foundations.

The roofs are constructed with earth-covered rough-faced side-dressed granite slabs, with cut stone 
lintels heading off the walls, capped with rounded cut granite pediments.  Each of the front door 
openings has a cast iron door, hung from forged iron pintles and locking hardware embedded into the 
jambs.  All of the tomb entrances except tomb D-2 are flanked with inscribed marble plaques.

B-1
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The ascending slopes on the east side of tomb A-2 and the north side of E-1 are faced with low,
triangular stone rubble walls, and there is another rubble wall making the corner between tombs D-2
and E-1.

NOTED CONDITIONS

I noted the following conditions during my walk-through:

Tomb A-2-

� The interior stonework that forms the side and back walls is in materially good condition, with a 
few exceptions:

� There is a thin vertical crack running through the east side wall, which is probably due to ground 
settlement or frost heaving, and should be pointed and injected grouted with compatible products.
Consideration should be given to burying rigid insulation along the wall, which would reduce the 
incidents of frozen subgrade and shifting in the walls, however the archaeological implications 
doing this should also be considered.

- There is a small area at the front lower corner of the west side wall where the mortar parging 
is spalling and the joints are eroded.  Softened material should be removed and the surface 
re-parged.

B-2
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� The roof slabs are sound and the joints between them intact.

� There are narrow gaps between the front wall and the east and west side walls that appear to 
have been caused by the front wall shifting outward, however the front wall remains generally 
planar and plumb. After repairs are made to the front wall the gaps should be filled with a
compatible mortar or grout. Some of the movement may also be from the effects on frost lensing 
in the underlying soil, which can be treated by burying rigid insulation along the front of the wall.

� The west door jamb fell tilted forward and out of the wall when the cast iron door was pulled 
open.  It was evident that an iron pin that had gone from the jamb to the lintel had been eaten 
away by rust, providing no restraint to the top of the jamb. The pins at the bottom of the jamb
stones have also rusted away.  The pin remnants should be drilled out of the holes in the stones
and the pins should be replaced with a new stainless steel pins to hold the stone back into place.

� The mortar bed joints below the stone lintel that 
crosses the front of the tomb are all cracked and 
have widened, and one can see that the iron pins at 
the tops of remaining jamb and corner stones have 
also failed.  We recommend that the remaining pins 
be cut along the bed line and the lintel stone and 
capstone be lifted off.  This may destabilize the 
remaining front of wall and it should be laterally 
braced during this operation to prevent movement. 
Any loose bricks should be removed and re-set or 
replaced and the pins drilled out and replaced with
new stainless steel.  Then stone lintel and cap should
then be bedded back into place and mechanically 
restrained with hidden ties to the sugrade tomb to
prevent outward movement. Consideration should be
given to reconstructing the front wall in its entirety, 
given the possibility that the pins at the bottoms of the 
remaining jamb and corner stones are also rusted 
away, although the joints at the bottom of these 
elements have not appreciably widened.

� The marble plaque that was adjacent to the west jamb fell off the front of the tomb when the jam
stone tilted away and broke into two pieces. The plaque should be repaired and reapplied with
restraining clips in the corners and the collar joint behind filled with a compatible grout.

� The fallen plaque revealed significant deterioration in the brick back-up construction, where the 
mortar joints have failed and the bricks have moved apart and expanded the wall through freeze-
thaw cycling.  The brick back-up wall on the west side of the door should be dismantled and
rebuilt.

� The small stone retaining wall at the east side of the tomb has shifted and bulged and should be 
rebuilt. Consideration should be given to burying rigid insulation along the front of the retaining 
wall.

B-3
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� General: Until a comprehensive restoration plan is able to move forward that at least includes all 
of the items noted above, the front wall should be made secure until it can.  We recommend that 
the fallen plaque be placed in safe storage (or in the tomb’s interior) and that the door and jamb 
stone be wedged back into position and locked.  A wooden brace or barricade should then be 
added against the front wall.

Tomb B-2-

� The interior stone and brickwork that forms the 
side and back walls is in materially good 
condition, with a few exceptions. Interestingly 
the majority of the west wall is faced in brick,
along with a portion of the east wall.

- There is a deviating vertical crack along 
the front edge of the west wall that should 
be pointed and injected grouted.

- A relatively small patch of stonework to the
immediate south of the above-noted crack 
has cracked mortar joints and should be 
cut and pointed locally rebuilt.

- There is an open hole at the upper front
corner of the east wall that should be 
plugged whith mortared stone chinking.

- The rubble stone foundation below the 
front wall has cracked mortar joints and
should be pointed and grouted if not 
reconstructed. Consideration should be 
given to burying rigid insulation along the
outside of the front wall.

� There are open gaps between the stone roof 
slabs that suggest the slabs have spread 
apart and the front roof edge has moved 
northward. This forward movement has tilted 
the front wall forward and is likely responsible 
for the vertical crack along the front edge of 
the west wall an the open hole at the upper 
front corner of the east wall. The forward 
spreading of the roof is likely caused by water 
soaking into the mortar joins and expanding 
them through freeze-thaw deterioration. The 
roof should be exposed from the top and the
joints cut out and repointed. Membrane strips 
should be laid over the tops of the joints to 
protect them from rainwater infiltration and 
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then the grassed soil covering should then be replaced.

� All of the mortar joints between 
stones of the front wall are cracked
and expanded, and we recommend 
that the wall be carefully dismantled 
and reconstructed, incorporating
stainless steel pins in place of the 
rusted iron ones.  The underlying 
rubble stone foundation should be 
investigated and if found to be wet-
laid and shifted it should be
excavated and rebuilt.  If found to be 
dry laid, which is more likely, it 
should be pointed and injection 
grouted as recommended above.  A
hidden tie-back system that anchors 
the front wall to the back of the tomb
roof should be incorporated into the 
rebuild.

� General: Due to the scattered and evolving nature of the damage and extent of the required
repairs, we do not see any one single item that can be addressed as an initial stabilization 
measure, rather, a comprehensive restoration of the tomb should be undertaken on at least a
tomb-by-tomb basis.

Tomb C-2-

� The interior stonework that forms the side and 
back walls is in materially good condition,
however there are gaps between the north ends 
of the east and west side walls and the back of 
the front wall that are up to 4” width.  These have 
been caused by the forward movement of this 
wall as well as potential frost effects.  As noted 
below, this wall should ultimately be rebuilt.

� There is a small area on the lower center of the 
west wall that has eroded mortar joints that 
should be cut and pointed.

� There is also a 4” gap between the top of the 
front wall and the north edge of the roof, which is 
otherwise entirely intact.
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� The majority of the mortar joints between 
stones of the front wall are cracked and 
expanded, and we recommend that the wall 
be carefully dismantled and reconstructed in 
its original position.  This should incorporate
stainless steel pins in place of the rusted 
iron ones and a hidden tie-back system that 
anchors the front wall to the back of the 
tomb roof. Consideration should be given to 
burying rigid insulation along the outside of 
the front wall.

� General: Due to the scattered and evolving 
nature of the damage and extent of the 
required repairs, we do not see any one 
single item that can be addressed as an
initial stabilization measure, rather, a 
comprehensive restoration of the tomb should be undertaken on at least a tomb-by-tomb basis.

Tomb D-2-

� The interior stonework that forms the side and 
back walls is in materially good condition except
that the north portion of the west wall has eroded 
mortar joints and is in need of cutting and 
pointing.

� The front wall has tilted forward with respect to 
the side walls and roof, and there are gaps 
between these of several inches. At the east wall 
on can see into tomb #C-2, and at the roof one 
can look up into the gap and see the underside of 
the rounded lintel cap and at the west wall one 
can see daylight.  The gap at the west wall is a 
clean break between the brick backup of the front 
wall and the stone to the south, whereas at the 
east wall the front wall makes a short 90-degree 
return to the south, which has separated from the
adjacent stonework. This gap should be closed 
by reconstructing the front wall into plumb 
position. Consideration should be given to 
burying rigid insulation along the outside of the
front wall.

� The lintel and rounded cap have widened joints below them that would suggest that the pins have 
failed.  There is also a gap between the east shared cornerstone (which we have already 
recommended be re-set) and the exposed brick back-up panel to the west. Because the damage 
to the front wall appears to be limited to the upper portion, there is the option of re-setting only the 
upper stones and leaving the lower stones and brickwork to remain in their tilted positions. The 
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above-noted gaps would be filled 
with mortared chinkers and/or grout.
The challenge with this, however, 
will be visually blending this forward 
tilted wall section with the plumb
rebuilt sections to the west, as a 
visible differential frontward shift will 
remain.  Therefore, we recommend
that rebuilding the entire front wall 
of this tomb to a plumb position.
Any reconstruction should
incorporate stainless steel pins in 
place of the rusted iron ones and a
hidden tie-back system that anchors 
the front wall to the back of the 
tomb roof.

� General: Due to the scattered and evolving nature of the damage and extent of the required
repairs, we do not see any one single item that can be addressed as an initial stabilization 
measure, rather, a comprehensive restoration of the tomb should be undertaken on at least a
tomb-by-tomb basis.

Tomb E-1-

Please note that this is the only east-facing tomb.

� The eastern portions of the north and south side 
walls have eroded mortar joints and multiple 
vertical and diagonal cracks running through 
them. It appears that the stonework had 
expanded eastward due to freeze thaw cycling 
and perhaps ground movements. The front 
halves of both side walls, which are most likely 
dry laid with a mortar finished face, should be cut 
and repointed and then injected with a 
compatible grout to give them some in-plane 
tensile and shear capacity.

� The east wall has short westward returns coming 
from the brick back-up that flanks the doorway.  
The returns have separated from the adjacent 
stone north and south wall construction by up to 
an inch, due to the frontward movement of the 
east wall, which should be rebuilt.
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� Because of the majority of the 
mortar joints between stones of 
the front wall are cracked and 
expanded, and we recommend 
that the wall be carefully 
dismantled and reconstructed in 
its original position.  This should
incorporate stainless steel pins in 
place of the rusted iron ones and
a hidden tie-back system that
anchors the front wall to the back 
of the tomb roof.

� The sloping stone retaining wall 
at the north side of the tomb is 
shifted and bulged forward and 
should be rebuilt.

� The L-shaped wall that links tombs D-2 and E-1 has 
eroded mortar joints and should be cut and 
repointed.

� General: Due to the scattered and evolving nature 
of the damage and extent of the required repairs, 
we do not see any one single item that can be 
addressed as an initial stabilization measure, rather,
a comprehensive restoration of the tomb should be
undertaken on at least a tomb-by-tomb basis.

Thank you for the opportunity to examine these interesting and historic structures.  Please contact me if 
you have any questions.

Respectfully Yours,

John M. Wathne, PE, President 
Structures North Consulting Engineers, Inc.

y
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